
1-14-C015 Questions and Answers 
Custodial Services, Ronald Reagan Washington National Airport 

January 17, 2014 
 

 Question Answer 
1. We are MBE and WBE business; do we still have to 

subcontract out to another MBE and WBE company? 
(See Section VIII(04) of the RFP) If the LDBE prime Offeror is a 
MBE, or WBE the 50% voluntary MBE/WBE goal may be achieved 
by the LDBE Offeror. 

2. Under Attachment 2, Evaluation Criteria, Page 4, Envelope 3: 
Technical Proposal, item d: states that the proposal should not 
exceed ten, double spaced, single sided pages. On the same 
page, a few paragraph down, it stated that the technical 
proposal limited to total of fifty pages. Please clarify which one 
is correct? 

See Amendment One, the page limit is seventy-five pages. 

3. For the page limit requirement: 
a.Do the RFP forms (ie: reference form, staffing plan form, 
equipment plan form, etc) count as part of the page limit? 
b.Do the tab dividers count as part of the page limit? 

a. No 
 
b. Not if they do not contain text. 

4. If the Airport issues amendment, which package should we 
include the acknowledgment of amendment? Representation 
package, Price Proposal,or Technical Proposal? 

Envelope 1: Representation Package 

5. What is the current contract number? 1-09-C004 

6. Can you provide the previous bid price tab including successful 
bidder? 

Firm A: $24,534,741.44, Firm B: $26,687,749.85, Firm C: 
$28,660,150.10.   
 
Motir Services, Inc. is the current contractor.  Motir self performs. 

7. Who is a current contractor providing service at these facilities?
How long has the current service provider had the contract? 

The current contractor is Motir Services, Inc.  The contract was 
awarded in May 2009. 

8. What is the precise contract value for the most recent twelve 
month period of each facility? Is this contract value including 
the cost of supplies? 

The value of the final option year is $6,244,999.00.  The contractor 
provides the supplies. 

9. Is it possible to get the current supply usages from the current 
contractor? 

The current contract requires the contractor to provide the 
supplies. This information is not available to the Airports Authority.  
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10. Is the scope/size of this bid identical with the current contract? 

Have there been any changes from the previously awarded 
contract to current request for bid? 

No, it is not identical.  Yes, there have been significant changes. 

11. What are the criteria for awarding the contract? Price is only one of several criteria upon which proposals will be 
evaluated.  See Section X, Attachment 02 for documentation and 
information required by, or in support of evaluation criteria. Award 
will be made to that Proposer: (1) Whose offer is judged to be an 
integrated assessment of the evaluation criteria to be the most 
advantageous to the Authority based on technical merit and price 
(“best value”); and (2) That the Authority deems responsible in 
accordance with MWAA Contracting Manual.  Best Value 
Determination: (1) The technical merit of the proposal is 
significantly more important than the price, and price must be fair, 
reasonable and affordable. (2)  The Authority may select other 
than the lowest price proposal if it is determined by value analysis, 
or technical/cost tradeoffs, that the proposal becomes more 
technically equivalent, then price becomes more important. Price 
evaluation will be based on the fully loaded fixed hourly rates of 
the two (2) year base period and three options years. 

12. Is there a bid bond requirement on the contract? If yes, in what 
amount? 

No 

13. Section V-6,7 provides that the initial performance bond be in 
the amount necessary to cover the contract price for the base 
period. Assuming the annual price for the base period is $6.5 
million, is the performance bond going to be in the amount of 
$13 million for the two year base period of $6.5 million per year 
for the two year period? 

See amendment one. 

14. Can an LDBE joint venture or partner with another small 
business outside side of the 100 mile parameter? 

(See Section IX (01-03) of the RFP) Each joint venture partner 
must (individually) obtain the Airports Authority’s LDBE 
certification. 
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15.  Please provide a copy of the bid tabulations from the previous 

bid and the awarded vendor and the DBE firms listed as subs 
with their subcontract amounts and scopes of work. 

Firm A: $24,534,741.44, Firm B: $26,687,749.85, Firm C: 
$28,660,150.10.   
 
Motir Services, Inc. is the current contractor.  Motir self performs. 

16. Is the pre-bid meeting and site visit mandatory? 
 

No 

17. Is there a Project Labor Agreement (PLA) with the MWAA and 
the current vendor? If so, please provide a copy of the PLA and 
all signatory members to the agreement. 

No 

18. We understand the requirement of the RFP in regards to the 
Attendance Software. Where the solicitation provides 3 brands 
and models. 
a.Currently we use similar Attendance Software called 
Bioelectronix. The Brand is Easy Locking, and the model is 
EC150. 
b.The following is the website for your reference to inquire 
more information about the software: 
http://www.bioelectronix.com/. 
c.Will Reagan be flexible to consider similar Attendance 
software? 
 

See Section XIII-Contractor Furnished Resources. 

19. RFP proposal is limited to 50 pages. Do the charts, tables and 
inserts/graphs will be counted towards the 50 pages limit. 
 

See the answer to question number 2. 
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20. In regards to the Bar Code System requested, please clarity 

the following: 

 
a. The solicitation provides the acceptable brands.  
b. Please let us know if the Reagan has the equipment already 
installed and we just need to purchase the software? Or 
c. Does the Reagan has the equipment and the software 
installed and will be charging contractor the fee to use the 
system? or 
d. Does the new contractor has to purchase one of the 
acceptable brand machines and software on their own and 
install, maintain and operate it? 
e. In case we are installing whole new machines and software, 
what happens to the machines and software in the end of the 
contract. May the contractor take them out in the end of the 
contract? 

Questions a-d, see Section IX-Documentation and Reporting 
 
Question e.- Hardware and software are the property of the 
contractor, however the data belongs to the Airports Authority, see 
Section IX-Documentation and Reporting. 

21. Is the LDBE a designation or are they stipulating the DBE has 
to be certified with their agency and not have an out of state 
DBE certification? 

(See Section IX(01-03) of the RFP) The Airports Authority’s LDBE 
certification is the only designation acceptable for this solicitation.  
It has no relationship to the DBE certification. 

22. What is the current contract number? 1-09-C004 

23. Can you provide the previous bid price tab including successful 
bidder? 

See the answer to question number 15. 

24. Who is the current contractor providing service at these 
facilities? 
How long has the current service provider had the contract? 
 

Motir Services, Inc.  The contract was awarded in May 2009 and 
began July 1, 2009. 
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25. My question is can I submit a proposal on the above RFP if I 

enter into a JV with a larger company whose size standard 
exceeds 16.5 million?  Our small business would go in as the 
prime contractor and we would either sub-c the larger corp or 
enter into a JV. 
 

No. (See Section IX(01-03) of the RFP) All partners in the joint 
venture must obtain LDBE certification. 

26. Based on Attachment 1 Statement of Work Page XII-1: there 
are documents and tasks need to be done at least 60 days 
prior to the start date. Does the airport have a specific required 
time frame for the transition or implementation period? 

The successful offeror, becomes fully responsible for all tasks and 
duties as of the contract start date. See Section XII-Deliverables. 

27. Are there any weight limits on the machines? No 

28.  Are Clark machines okay? They are owned by Advanced 
company. 

No, See Section XIII-Contractor Furnished Resources. 

29. Do we need hour meter for small machines ( swing machines, 
floor buffers, etc.) ? 

See Section XIII-02.A. 

30. The RFP requires contractor to provide -Ruggedized bar code 
scanners. Does each cleaners need to carry one? Is there a 
minimum number of the scanners required? 

Contractor shall provide sufficient equipment to accomplish the 
Statement of Work. See Section IX-Documentation and Reporting. 

31. If the annual contract amount is $8 Million, then the bond must 
be $16 Million initially? 

Yes 

32. For equipment, are other brands acceptable, such as Nobels (a 
Tennant company) and Proteam? 

See answer to question 31. 

33. Is there a bid bond requirement on the contract? If yes, in what 
amount? 

No 

34. Will we be cleaning in any areas controlled by US Customs? If 
so would we need additional bonds using Customs Bond 
Forms? 

No 
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35. Will the MWAA consider staggering the 100% performance 

bond for the base two years amount for a year at a time? Our 
bonding representatives suggest that our firm can get better 
pricing for the bond provided that we are using it for a year at a 
time. Currently, the MWAA is asking for the option year bonds 
for each option year so please consider staggering the base 
two years for a year at a time. 

See amendment one. 

36. Can the MWAA provide a bid item for an "initial cleaning" 
service for the entire project? As we observed during the walk-
thru, there are real problem areas where chewing gum, etc. 
that have been on floors, elevators, etc. for quite some time 
and would require "extra" work to get the facility up to our 
standards and yours, as owner, if we could bid this work as a 
single one time "initial cleaning" bid item. 
 

See amendment one, revised price schedule and the revised 
Statement of Work.  An Initial One-Time Cleaning allotment has 
been added. 

37. Is there a Collective Bargaining Agreement (CBA) between the 
incumbent and an organized labor union? If so, which one. It 
does not seem feasible that the MWAA would not know of such 
an agreement on your property as answered at the pre-
proposal meeting since union reps touring one of their union 
sites would need security clearance from the MWAA to resolve 
on site issues between labor/management and the owner. 
 

If there is a Union, Offerors must contact the Union directly for a 
copy of the agreement.  The Airports Authority does not involve 
itself in union matters, and union involvement is at the discretion of 
the offeror. 

38. Will the MWAA consider having a "mobilization" bid line item 
(10%)for start up costs that Local DISADVANTAGED Business 
Enterprises(LDBE)could truly utilize for such an enormous 
project? 

No 

39. Can the MWAA extend the due date? 
 

See amendment one. 
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40. Please provide the incumbent firms name etc., contract dollar 

start amount and current amount and the total square footage 
and bldgs. in their contract? Also, was the last bid a LDBE set-
aside? What were the LDBE/MBE/WBE goals on the last 
project and what firms are the incumbent using for this job to 
meet the goals? 

Motir Services, Inc.  The contract amount is $28,255,697.10.  The 
last solicitation was also 100% LDBE set aside.  The incumbent 
self-performs. 

41. Does the MWAA have a written "Reentry Program" for ex-
offenders policy, if so what is it? 

No 

42. At the pre-proposal meeting, it was stated that we should 
ONLY fill out the "yellow" unit price columns ONLY. Are we 
NOT to fill out the SUBTOTAL amount "bolded" areas? 

All calculations will happen once the total in the yellow boxes are 
input. 

43. Is there currently a cloud and mobile based barcode RFID label 
and scanning system for documenting QC inspections and task 
and frequency compliance in use at the airport? If so, what is 
the brand and system in use? 

There have been significant changes to the SOW for this RFP; 
therefore this information is not relevant. See Section IX-
Documentation and Reporting and Section XIII-Contractor 
Furnished Resources 

44. Is there currently a Web or Cloud based time and attendance 
software with integrated biometric time clock system in use at 
the airport? If so, what is the brand and system in use? 

There have been significant changes to the SOW for this RFP; 
therefore this information is not relevant. see Section XIII-
Contractor Furnished Resources. 

45. In Section X.01.A (pg. X-2) of the SOW, a Quality Assurance 
Manager is required to be on-site 0300-1200 7 days per week. 
In Section X.04.A (pg. X-3) of the SOW, a Quality Control 
Inspector is required to be on-site 0300-1200 Monday through 
Friday, including holidays.  
Are these the same positions, or two different ones? 
If they are the same position, are the working days Monday 
through Friday or 7 days per week? 
If they are the same position, which title should we reference in 
our proposal? 
 

One position for Quality Control Inspector 3:30am to 12noon 
Monday through Friday. The term Quality Assurance Manager is a 
clerical error, please see Amendment for correction. 
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46. Section XIII.05.D (pg. XIII-3) requires a minimum of six digital 

cameras to be used for QC inspections.  
Will the digital cameras on the employee cell phones satisfy 
this requirement?  
Or are actual separate cameras required? 
 

Cell phones do not satisfy this requirement. See Section XIII-
Contractor Furnished Resources. 

47. Is there currently a union collective bargaining agreement for 
the custodians in place at Reagan National Airport? If not, is 
there a wage/labor requirement that MWAA requires? 

See the answer to question 40. 

48. As a result of the pre-proposal conference and site visit on Jan. 
7, it is apparent that there will need to be an initial cleaning 
performed in order to bring the cleanliness level up to the new 
performance standards required by the Airports Authority for 
the new contract. Will you be adding a line item for that to the 
Price Schedule? 
 

See answer to question 36. 

49. For the bond and LBDE certification requirement, are they 
required by the start of the contract or by the time the proposal 
is due?  
 

No.  The Contracting Officer will request the bond from apparent 
successful offeror prior to award.  The successful offeror must be a 
certified LDBE firm to be awarded the contract.  

50. We understand that this is an MWAA LDBE set aside. 
The size standard for the custodial or janitorial NAIC code 
is $16.5 million. With regard to a Joint Venture is the size 
standard 16.5 for each entity of the joint venture or is the 
$16.5 the total for of both organizations of the Joint 
Venture? 
 

Each entity/partner/member of the joint venture must (individually) 
qualify for LDBE certification (i.e. the $16.5 million size standard 
applies to each partner of the joint-venture). 
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51. It is noted that the parking rate for employees for the 

season ending September 30,2012 is $280.00 per vehicle
a. Is the season a complete fiscal year from October 1st 
thru September 30th of each year? 
b. Can you provide any historical information with regard 
to the average escalation amount for the past few years? 
 

Question A-Yes 
 
Question B- See past parking rates 
2010-$240 
2011-$260 
2012-$280 
 

52. Are we correct in understanding that there is no 
evaluation consideration with regard to addressing how 
the affordable health care act will be handled when it goes 
into effect? 

Correct. 

53. Hazardous waste disposal does that include the strip and 
wax waste water? 

No restrictions currently exist on sanitary sewer disposal of 
wastewater byproduct of the required floor care products 

54. Is there any guidance on the definition of performance 
schedules that demonstrate the Offeror's ability to fully 
implement all of the contract requirements throughout the 
contract period as stated in the RFP? 
 

Question is not clear. 

55. Would MWAA be open to free testing on alternative floor 
finish to reduce the powdering effect? 

Yes, See also Appendix F Materials and Supplies. 
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56. Per Statement of Work, Page XVI, Section XVI- Options. 

In addition to the covered hard floor care Base Services 
scrub and recoat and strip and refinish cycles in the food 
court areas the contractor shall provide an incremental 
cost to expand services in these areas to include daily 
Sweep Dust Mop, Damp Mop Auto Scrub, floor Maintainer 
and Burnishing tasks to Base Services. Frequencies of 
these services are to be the same as the adjacent floors 
currently maintained under this contract. 
 

Please clarify: incremental cost to expand services in 
these areas to include daily sweep, dust mop, damp mop 
auto scrub, floor maintainer and burnishing tasks to base 
services. Are we to assume these additional services will 
be added piece meal, or will all these services be added 
at one time?  
 

Incremental cost shall include these services as a combined 
responsibility. 

57. Per Statement of Work Page XIII 4, Section XIII, 07 
Contract Compliance Web and Mobile based bar code 
system. 
Acceptable Brands: Clean Telligent, Mobile Spectrum 
Custodial Quality Assurance, JAMS, or Airport Authority 
approved equivalent. 

 
Please Clarify: Airport Authority approved equivalent. if 
we would like to use a different system not mentioned 
above how do we seek approval? 

Submission for consideration should be sent to the Contracting 
Officer as part of the technical proposal. 
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58. Per Statement of Work, Page IV-2, Section IV, 04 -

Excluded Services- All surfaces, items, finishes, 
components, etc. identified within the space drawings are 
covered by this contract with the following exclusions: 
A. Food, beverage and Retail Stores, exclusive of Priced 
Option One. 

 
Please clarify: exclusive of Priced Option One. Are these 
services not to be priced for option one, but will be priced 
for outlying option years? 

See Section XVI-Options. 

59. In the RFP the square foot of carpet versus hard surface 
floors is given in total. However, the locations of the 
carpeted areas is not given. Given that frequencies of 
service vary from location to location could carpet versus 
hard surface square foot amounts be given for the 
Locations as outlined on the Appendix's? 
 

Information is not available at this time, it is incumbent of the 
successful offeror to verify the actual conditions. 

60. The floor plans outline square foot amounts for the areas 
to be cleaned but do not line up 100% with the Locations 
as outlined in the Appendix's. Given that the frequencies 
of service vary from location to location could square foot 
amounts for each Location be provided as outlined in the 
Appendix's? 
 

See answer to question 63. 

61. Is MWAA interested in receiving alternate bids? If so, 
what would be the proper submission format, technical 
and pricing or just pricing with price explanations? 

No, the Airports Authority is not interested in alternate bids at this 
time. 
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62. (APPENDIX B3 SOW / Page 62) Can MWAA confirm that 

the 5:00am first shift start time is correct? We are 
questioning the accuracy of this information given that the 
metro does open until 5:00 am on weekdays and 7:00 am 
on weekends. A majority of the legacy employees go and 
come by METRO due to parking cost and limited 
employee parking.  
 

Shift times are correct. 

63. (Page I1 / Section V6 Paragraph 21 Page 19) 
Performance Bond Please confirm that it is MWAAs 
requirement that the 100% performance bond required is 
for the Base Period bid, which is two years, and based on 
your anticipated cost range would equal a performance 
bond of between approximately $12M and $16M (based 
on bid / award price).  
 

Please see amendment one. 

64. (Page IV-2 Attachment 01 Paragraph 03 #4a) 
Performance Incentives/Penalties- Please clarify whether 
the incentive payment could be awarded for multiple 
months (i.e. is the incentive payment a one-time award or 
is it repeatable in other months)? Will the incentive 
payment be available in option years as well? 

Monthly for the entire term of the contract. 

65. During the conference, contractors were instructed to 
develop pricing based on today’s conditions, which does 
not include the Affordable Healthcare Act. However, if 
contractors do this, and we are required to implement the 
policy later will the MWAA enter future adjustment 
negotiations?  
 

It is incumbent upon each offeror to read, understand and apply 
the Affordable Health Care Act to their proposal as applicable.  
Future negotiations will be handled according to the contract, 
Section VII.32 Changes. 



1-14-C015 Questions and Answers 
Custodial Services, Ronald Reagan Washington National Airport 

January 17, 2014 
 

 Question Answer 
66. Should pricing take into consideration future wage 

adjustments or should pricing be based on current hourly 
wages and contractor will enter into wage adjustment 
negations at the beginning of every contract period? 
 

Base period and option year pricing opportunity is provided in 
Section III – Price Schedule.  The living wage requirement for the 
term of the contract is $13.64 an hour.  Wage negotiations will not 
be considered at the beginning of every contract period. 

67. If a contractor has an excellent technical proposal but 
does not have three past performance requirements that 
are transportation hubs with 24 7 365 does this mean we 
are unlikely to be awarded? 
 

There are several criteria on which an Offeror’s technical proposal 
will be evaluated.  Experience servicing transportation hubs, 
campus’ or campus style contracts that operate twenty-four hours 
a day, seven days a week, three hundred sixty-five days a year is 
comparable to the custodial services at Ronald Reagan 
Washington National Airport and is desirable. 

68. Does the 16.5 million size limit apply individually to 
partners, affiliates, and sub-contractors or aggregately? 

(See Section IX(01-03) of the RFP) Each partner in a joint venture 
and each sub-contractor must (individually) obtain LDBE 
certification (i.e. the $16.5 applies to each individually). The term 
“Affiliates” is applied to firms that are affiliates of each LDBE 
applicant firm. The Airports Authority utilizes the US Small 
Business Administration’s (SBA) regulations 13 CFR Part 121, as 
guidance only, in determining whether firms are affiliates of each 
other. Where affiliation has been determined by the Airports 
Authority, the $16.5 million size standard would be applied in 
aggregate to the LDBE applicant and all its affiliates. 

69. How many cases of paper towels, toilet tissue, and seat 
covers are used at the Airport per month? Is there a list of 
Airport approved products? 

See answer to question 9. 

70. Please confirm that the performance bond covers the first 
and second years aggregately? 

See answer to question 34. 

71. Are there any insurance coverage requirements for part 
time or full time contractor staff? 

The solicitation is silent on insurance requirements for part time or 
full time contractor staff, other than worker’s compensation. 



1-14-C015 Questions and Answers 
Custodial Services, Ronald Reagan Washington National Airport 

January 17, 2014 
 

 Question Answer 
72. Are the current employees covered by a CBA? If so, what 

are the economic provisions? All benefits and 
contributions affect pricing. 

See the answer to question 40. 

73. Is suitable storage available for ride on and battery 
powered equipment? 
 

Yes 

74. What is the name of the current bar code system? Does it 
meet Airport requirements? 
 

See answer to question 46. 

75. What is the name of the current biometric system? 
 

See answer to question 47. 

76. What duties are required in the baggage processing 
area? 
 

See Appendix B. 

77. In window cleaning included in the specifications? Spot 
cleaning is not window cleaning. 

See Appendix B, See Section III-Definitions. 

78. Many observed areas do not meet stated cleaning 
standards. Will the current contractor be required to bring 
all areas to standards or will the successive contractor be 
paid to do this? 
 

See answer to question 36. 

79. What will be the length of the grace period before any 
deductions are made by the Airport? 
 

Contractor will be expected to assume all duties upon contract 
commencement. Performance standards are expected to be met 
upon the contractors completion of the first required task cycle. 

80. Does the Airport provide the contractor any equipment to 
communicate with Airport staff? 

See Section XIV-Airports Authority Furnished Resources. 
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81. What is the annual value of the current contract? 

 
$6,244,999.00 

82. What is the current contractor staff at the Airport by shift? 
 

There have been significant changes to the SOW for this RFP, 
therefore this information is not relevant. See Section X-Personnel, 
See also Appendix H. 

83. Is there any limitation on providing part time staff as long 
as shift coverage is fulfilled? 
 

No 

84. What are the pressure washing requirements at the arrival 
and departure entrances? 
 

See Appendix B. 

85.  Your request for can liners notes the size of the bag, the 
color, and I believe, a misguided weight.. I think you want 
to use Microns(mic) and not (mil) as in mils 

Language as written in SOW is correct. 
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